102126-7

#### No. 388344

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION III

Spokane County Superior Court Case No. 20-2-02570-32

BIOCHRON, INC., et al,

Appellant/Petitioner,

v.

BLUE ROOTS, LLC,

Respondent.

## APPELLANT/PETITIONER BIOCHRON, INC.'S AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN D. YAHNE, WSBA #35063 WHITNY L. NORTON, WSBA #46485 WILLIAM B. EMMAL, WSBA #58261 PISKEL YAHNE KOVARIK, PLLC 522 West Riverside, Suite 700 Spokane, WA 99201 P: (509) 321-5930 F: (509) 321-5935 ryahne@pyklawyers.com wnorton@pyklawyers.com wemmal@pyklawyers.com *Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner* 

#

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

*"Simply put, we hold that a party waives a right to arbitrate if it elects to litigate instead of arbitrate."* Jeoung Lee v. Evergreen Hosp. Med. Ctr., 195 Wn.2d 699, 705, 464 P.3d 209, 213 (2020) (quoting Otis Hous. Ass'n, Inc. v. Ha, 165 Wn.2d 582, 588, 201 P.3d 309, 312 (2009)). Yet the court of appeals held that *"mostly play[ing] defense"* for 15 months after losing a motion to compel arbitration does

not constitute a waiver of the right to arbitrate even though Blue Roots only moved to compel arbitration for a second time after it lost a substantive motion for preliminary injunction and was on the precipice of losing a heated discovery battle over its QuickBooks files. Biochron, Inc. v. Blue Roots, LLC, 529 P.3d 464 (Wn. Ct. App. May 25, 2023). Blue Roots did not appeal the denial of its first motion to compel arbitration. After the motion was denied, Blue Roots abandoned any intent to arbitrate. It engaged in extensive written discovery including months long letter campaigns for supplementation, agreed to attend mediation but failed to produce documents promised prior to mediation (resulting in the cancelation thereof), actively participated in depositions, filed a motion for preliminary injunction, filed a stipulated motion for instruction, filed a motion for oral argument, opposed a motion to compel, filed a motion to continue trial because Blue Roots needed more time "to conduct written discovery, depositions, and

prepare for trial" opposed Biochron's two motions for summary judgment, and otherwise sought to preserve its claims against Biochron in preparation for trial. (CP 514-722; 739-54; 807-21; 913-39; 951-83; 1095-1210; 1226-57; 1261-1312; 1597-1602). Yet the court of appeals perfunctorily concluded Blue Roots' "mostly defensive posture is not inconsistent with an intent to arbitrate the dispute." <u>Biochron</u> 529 P.3d at 473. Should this Court review and correct the court of appeals' decision on waiver of the right to arbitrate which conflicts with prior decisions of this Court?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is about Blue Roots' failed acquisition of Biochron. (CP 107-09). Blue Roots approached Biochron about a potential acquisition. (CP 39 at  $\P$  7). As negotiations progressed, the parties signed a Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU"), wherein the parties committed to negotiate a future asset purchase agreement. (CP 40 at ¶ 9; CP 49-52).

After attempting to negotiate a binding asset purchase agreement and product purchase agreement, Allan Holms declared an impasse in the negotiations. (CP 312). Despite the MOU constituting only a commitment to enter into a future agreement, Blue Roots filed an arbitration demand with AAA relying on the MOU's "DISPUTE RESOLUTION" provision, which provides:

The Parties will resolve any discrepancy of interpretation on an amicable basis and with the utmost good will and cooperation. In the event of any irresolvable disagreement between the parties, the parties agree to submit to arbitration via the AMERICAN ARBITRATION ASSOCIATION, to be conducted in the City of Spokane, Washington.

(CP 51).

Biochron filed suit asking that the trial court enjoin Blue Roots from proceeding with arbitration because the MOU was not a contract. (CP 330). Thereafter, Blue Roots brought its first motion to compel arbitration. (CP 360-62). The trial court heard oral argument on Blue Roots' motion on October 23, 2020, and denied the same. (CP 461-62). (See also, generally, Supplemental Verbatim Report of Proceedings ("SRP"), filed Dec. 27, 2022).

After the trial court denied Blue Roots' motion to compel arbitration, Blue Roots failed to exercise its right to appeal that denial. RAP 2.2(a)(3). Instead, signaling an unequivocal intent to forego the right to arbitrate. Blue Roots filed an answer and plead the same claims set forth in its arbitration demand as counterclaims against Biochron on November 18, 2020. (CP 65-85; 469-90). Consistent with that intent, Blue Roots drafted and propounded four sets of interrogatories and requests for production on Biochron and the individual counterclaim defendants. (CP 1313 at ¶ 3; 1313-1515). Blue Roots also propounded requests for admission that same day. Id. Counsel for the parties engaged in extensive discussions over supplementation of discovery and took or scheduled depositions of all individuals directly involved with the

parties' dispute. Id.

Thereafter, Blue Roots filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction, affirmatively requesting that the trial court order Biochron to return its alleged trade secret marijuana plants and grow processes. (CP 514; CP 517-86). That motion required the trial court to decide whether Blue Roots' grow process and marijuana plants were trade secrets and whether Biochron had misappropriated the same. <u>Id</u>. Continuing to engage in litigation, Blue Roots opposed Biochron's first partial summary judgment motion on February 12, 2021, requesting that the trial court dismiss Blue Roots' claims against the individual owners of Biochron, and Blue Roots stipulated to a protective order on March 18, 2021. (CP 758-70; CP 1663); (CP 785-95).

Eventually, the parties agreed to mediate in May of 2021—although that mediation did not come to fruition due to Blue Roots failure to produce promised QuickBooks records needed to vet Blue Roots claimed damages. (CP 1321-74).

Continuing to prepare for trial and abandoning any intent to arbitrate, Blue Roots filed its disclosure of lay and expert witnesses on July 2, 2021, delineating its anticipated *trial* witnesses. (CP 1664 at ¶ 8). Additionally, Blue Roots noted the depositions of Kevin Rudeen, Bart Bennett, Biochron's expert, Richard Present, Biochron employee, Nathan Brown, and Biochron's accountant, Scott Kramer. (CP 1353-77).

Indeed, as Blue Roots continued to prepare for the parties' April 2022 trial, on December 3, 2021, Blue Roots filed a supplemental brief opposing Biochron's pending motion for partial summary judgment. (CP 1068-94; CP 1664 at ¶ 12). On December 6, 2021, Blue Roots supplemented its witness disclosures to include additional witnesses it expected to call at *trial*. (CP 1664 at ¶ 13). On January 28, 2022—less than three months before trial—Blue Roots filed its rebuttal witness disclosure. (CP 1664 at

¶ 17).

Further illustrating its intent to litigate its claims and prepare for trial, on January 28, 2022, Blue Roots requested a trial continuance, representing to the trial court that it needed "more time ... to conduct written discovery, depositions, and prepare for trial." (CP 1281). By Blue Roots' own account, "[t]hroughout the pendency of this case, the parties have aggressively litigated various issues... there [are] well over 100 pleadings contained in the court file in the matter. . . [and Blue Roots was] involved in substantial supplemental briefing regarding Blue Roots' Motion for Preliminary Injunction Re: *Misappropriation of Trade Secrets, along with Plaintiffs*' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Re: Individual Liability. The parties submitted over 250 pages of supplemental briefing and accompanying documents, including three Expert Reports (one for Plaintiff and two for Blue Roots)... the parties have exchanged various sets

of written discovery and Plaintiffs have conducted four depositions. . . the individuals we [Blue Roots] wish to depose include . . . Bart Bennett, Kevin Rudeen, John Gillingham, and Plaintiffs' marijuana expert . . . we have diligently prepared for trial. This includes the supplemental briefing and depositions described above . . ." (CP 1261-1279). Importantly, at that time—just three months before trial—it had been 15 months since the trial court denied Blue Roots' motion to compel arbitration, and up to that point Blue Roots gave no indication that it desired to do anything other than litigate its claims. <u>Id</u>.

Two weeks after losing its motion for preliminary injunction asking for the return of its alleged trade secrets on January 26, 2022, and 15 months after it lost its initial motion to compel arbitration, when Blue Roots had to be certain it would lose Biochron's motion to compel and be required to produce its QuickBooks files, Blue Roots filed a *renewed* motion to compel arbitration on February 14, 2022. (CP 1575-96). Despite filing the renewed motion Blue Roots continued to demonstrate it did not actually intend to arbitrate. On February 25, 2022, in its response to Biochron's motion for partial summary judgment regarding dismissal of all counterclaims arising from trade secret misappropriation, Blue Roots asserted *new* affirmative theories of relief. (CP 1608-34). Indeed, as it prepared for trial, Blue Roots abruptly, and for the first time, asserted that it formed a partnership with Biochron. Id.

The trial court heard oral argument on Blue Roots' *renewed* motion on March 11, 2022. (See generally RP 1-50). The trial court cited to Blue Roots' preceding motion to compel arbitration sixteen months prior stating that it would not supersede the trial court's prior order denying the motion to compel arbitration. (RP 45:5-9). In turn, the trial court denied Blue Roots' *renewed* motion to compel arbitration. <u>Id.</u> On April 1, 2022, Blue Roots filed a notice of appeal to Division III, appealing the trial court's denial of its *renewed* motion to compel arbitration. (CP 1870-79). On May 25, 2023, Division III remanded with directions for the trial court to compel arbitration holding that Blue Roots did not waive its right to arbitration by failing to appeal the initial denial as a matter of right and litigating for 15 months thereafter as *"Blue Roots mostly played defense . . . [and] this mostly defensive posture is not inconsistent with an intent to arbitrate the dispute."* <u>Biochron</u>, 529 P.3d at 473.

### V. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> <u>ACCEPTED</u>

The court of appeals erroneously created a new standard under Washington law that if a party raises the right to arbitrate then *"mostly play[s] defense"* it can litigate or change forum on a whim —regardless of the level of its engagement in litigation, the amount of time it *"plays defense"*, and the prejudice suffered by the opposing party.

<u>Biochron</u>, 529 P.3d at 472-74. The court of appeals' erroneous holding conflicts with this Court's prior holdings and warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

#### The Court of Appeals Misapplied this Court's Holdings in Ha, Townsend, and Jeoung Lee.

"The right to arbitration is waived by conduct inconsistent with any other intent . . ." Ha, 165 Wn.2d at 588. And as astutely cited by the court of appeals, "[t]o show a party has acted inconsistently with its right to arbitrate, the opposing party must show 'that as events unfolded, the party's conduct reached a point where it was inconsistent with any other intention but to forgo the right to arbitrate." Biochron, 529 P.3d at 472 (quoting <u>River</u> <u>House Dev., Inc. v. Integrus Architecture, PS</u>, 167 Wn. App. 221, 238, 272 P.3d 289 (2012)). To determine whether a party waived its right to arbitrate, courts consider: (1) knowledge of an existing right to compel arbitration<sup>1</sup>; (2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Only factors (2) and (3) are at issue on appeal. <u>Biochron</u>, 529 P.3d 464 (Wn. App. 2022).

acts inconsistent with that right; and (3) prejudice. <u>Lee</u>, 195 Wn.2d at 705 (2020).

## 1. <u>Blue Roots' Conduct Evidences its Intent to</u> <u>Litigate—Not Arbitrate—its Claims.</u>

Rather than closely examine Blue Roots' acts that were inconsistent with an intent to arbitrate and the timing thereof the court of appeals summarily determined that, "Blue Roots mostly played defense to Biochron's two partial summary judgment motions and its motion to compel discovery. The only affirmative motions Blue Roots filed were an unsuccessful motion to return its property and purported trade secrets, and a later motion to continue the trial date and associated deadlines." Biochron, 529 P.3d at 473. This reasoning completely obliterates the second prong of the waiver of arbitration analysis as it fails to analyze Blue Roots aggressive litigation and the fact that Blue Roots only renewed its motion to compel arbitration after it lost its motion for preliminary injunction asking the trial court to order

Biochron to return its alleged trade secret grow processes and marijuana plants. (CP 1221-23; 1593-96). This oversimplification also ignores that the renewed motion was brought just before Blue Roots was ordered to produce its QuickBooks files, something it had been refusing to do for nearly a year despite claiming damages of over \$1 million without providing documentation to support such damages. (CP 1313-1515; 1603-05).

This Court's decisions in <u>Ha, Townsend</u>, and <u>Lee</u> all evidence that Blue Roots actions reached the point where they were inconsistent with any other intention than to forego the right to arbitrate.

In <u>Ha</u>, a commercial tenant defended against an unlawful detainer action by raising an option contract that contained an arbitration clause. 165 Wn.2d at 585-86. After a writ of restitution was issued to the landlord, the tenant sent a letter to the landlord demanding arbitration pursuant to the option contract. <u>Id</u>. at 586. When the landlord resisted, the tenant filed a motion to compel arbitration under a separate cause number. <u>Id.</u> The trial court denied the motion to compel arbitration finding that the right to seek arbitration under the option no longer existed. <u>Id.</u> On review, this Court held the tenant waived its right to arbitrate by presenting the same issue – whether it had successfully exercised the option – in the unlawful detainer action. <u>Id.</u> at 588. Having lost that issue, the tenant could not later seek to relitigate it in a different forum. <u>Id.</u>

Unlike the tenant in <u>Ha</u>, Blue Roots filed an arbitration demand then moved to compel arbitration at the outset of the present litigation. (CP 65-85; 360-62). Yet, just like the tenant in <u>Ha</u>, Blue Roots conduct indicated an intent to forgo its right to arbitrate when it admittedly engaged in aggressive litigation and sought to have the same issue, whether it has trade secrets and is entitled to the immediate return thereof decided by the trial court. (CP 65-85; 514-722). Having lost that issue, Blue Roots renewed its motion to compel arbitration. (CP1221-23; 1575-96). "Arbitration may be waived by the parties by their conduct." <u>Ha</u>, 165 Wn.2d at 588. Blue Roots waived arbitration by its conduct and it cannot now seek to relitigate these same issues in arbitration which is exactly what it intends to do. (CP 65-85).

The court of appeals erred in likening Blue Roots' conduct in this litigation to that of the builder and parent companies in <u>Biochron</u>, 529 P.3d at 473 (citing <u>Townsend</u> <u>v. Quadrant Corp.</u>, 173 Wn.2d 451, 454-55, 268 P.3d 917 (2012)). There, immediately after the lawsuit was filed the builder moved to stay proceedings and compel arbitration and the parent companies moved for summary judgment asking for a determination that they had no connection to the plaintiffs or their houses. <u>Townsend</u>, 173 Wn.2d at 454. Upon losing that motion the parent companies and builder

purchase and sale agreement. Id. at 455. The conduct of the builder and parent companies is contrary to Blue Roots' conduct further demonstrating that Blue Roots abandoned its intent to pursue arbitration as its conduct solely evinced an intent to litigate. (CP 1261-79). Once the parent companies were found to have a connection with the plaintiffs the parent companies immediately joined the builder in moving to compel arbitration. Townsend, 173 Wn.2d at 463. Conversely, here, once Blue Roots' motion to compel arbitration was denied it completely abandoned its intent to arbitrate and aggressively litigated for 15 months before renewing its motion to compel arbitration as soon as it lost a significant motion for preliminary injunction which also happened to be on the eve of being compelled to produce its QuickBooks files. (CP 1221-23; 1575-96).

This is not a situation where Blue Roots immediately appealed the denial of its motion to compel arbitration or

where Blue Roots attempted to resolve this matter. Instead, Blue Roots chose not to appeal its motion to compel arbitration and then actively and aggressively litigated as set forth herein for 15 months before suddenly renewing its motion when it needed a change of forum in the hopes of obtaining a different outcome. If Blue Roots conduct is the equivalent of the parent companies in Townsend then any party who initially moves to compel arbitration and is denied that relief can litigate for as long as they deem prudent and renew the motion to compel arbitration once litigation definitively goes against them. While Division I held that there is no bright line rule and that the facts of each case must be analyzed to determine whether a party has waived its right to arbitrate<sup>2</sup>, this Court must draw the line at aggressively litigating for 15 months only to renew a motion to compel arbitration on the eve of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>Biochron</u>, 529 P.3d at 472 (citing <u>Berman v. Tierra Real</u> <u>Est. Grp., LLC</u>, 23 Wn. App. 2d 387, 400, 515 P.3d 1004 (2022)).

being ordered to produce damning evidence and just after losing a significant motion for preliminary injunction.

The court of appeals analysis of Lee was likewise flawed as it failed to identify the procedural and substantive similarities that should have resulted in the same outcome. The court of appeals reasoned that participating in discovery and litigation was inconsistent with a right to arbitrate. Biochron, 529 P.3d at 472. Yet, when presented with these same facts here, the court of appeals found that so long as a party immediately raises a right to arbitrate and so long as the court determines that inconsistent acts constitute "playing defense" such inconsistent acts have no bearing on the second factor of the waiver analysis. Id. at 473. A party must be able to waive its right to arbitrate by taking acts inconsistent with such a right even after raising it.

In <u>Lee</u> "the parties engaged in <u>discovery</u> and <u>litigation for</u> approximately <u>nine months</u> without seeking [arbitration,] mediation or awaiting a decision from this court in another case .... Through its conduct, Evergreen <u>chose to litigate rather than arbitrate." Lee</u>, 195 Wn.2d at 707–08 (emphasis added). Likewise, here, Blue Roots chose to litigate rather than arbitrate by engaging in comprehensive discovery and aggressive litigation. (CP 1261-79). The court of appeals decision is inconsistent with Lee because Blue Roots fully and completed immersed itself in discovery and litigation for 15 months without reference or mention of pursuing arbitration.

In short, the court of appeals determined that so long as a party moves to compel arbitration at the outset of litigation any actions it takes thereafter, until it renews its motion to compel arbitration, are merely "*defensive*" and not evidence of an intent to relinquish its right to arbitrate. This rule cannot stand. It will cause uncertainty for litigants, reward forum shopping, waste judicial resources, and cost parties engaging in litigation with a party who acts inconsistent with its right to arbitrate unnecessary time and expense.

Between October 23, 2020-when the trial court denied Blue Roots' Motion to Compel Arbitration-and February 14, 2022—when Blue Roots filed its Renewed Motion to Compel Arbitration-Blue Roots filed its Answer and asserted the same claims it plead in its Arbitration Demand as counterclaims against Biochron, indicating its intent to develop its own legal theories against Biochron and litigate the dispute. (CP 469-90). Consistent with that intent, Blue Roots continued to develop its own theories by propounding four sets of interrogatories and requests for production. (CP 1313 at ¶ 3; 1313-1515). As often occurs during the discovery process, the parties disagreed over what was, and was not, discoverable. In turn, counsel for the respective parties exchanged voluminous correspondence regarding supplementing the parties' discovery requests—all to prepare for trial. Id. The parties

even attempted to mediate—not arbitrate—their dispute in May of 2021—albeit unsuccessfully due to Blue Roots failure to turn over its QuickBooks files. (CP 1321-74; CP 1330-32).

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