FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/17/2023 3:51 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON Case No. 102126-7

COURT OF APPEALS OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III, Case No. 38834-4-III

BIOCHRON, INC., a Washington corporation, et al.,

Petitioners for Discretionary Review,

V.

BLUE ROOTS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondent for Discretionary Review.

RESPONDENT BLUE ROOTS, LLC'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

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

RCW 7.04A.080(1).

In the situation at hand, Division Three held that "Biochron is unable to meet its <u>heavy burden</u> of showing that Blue Roots waived its right to arbitrate." *Blue Roots*, 529 P.3d at 467. Division Three succinctly reasoned that "Blue Roots filed a demand for arbitration and twice moved the trial court to compel arbitration," noting that "[t]he actions are consistent with a desire to arbitrate." *Id*. Later in the Opinion, Division Three elaborated:

Blue Roots did not equivocate or delay in asserting its right to arbitrate. It filed a demand for arbitration before any litigation commenced. When Biochron filed this suit to enjoin arbitration, Blue Roots promptly asserted its right

to arbitrate. When that was unsuccessful, Blue Roots mostly played defense to Biochron's two partial summary judgment motions and its motion to compel discovery. The only affirmative motions Blue Roots filed were an unsuccessful motion to return its property and purported trade secrets, and a later motion to continue the trial date and associated deadlines.

Id. at 473. Division Three did not err and Biochron did not meet its heavy burden of establishing waiver.

2. Biochron is Not Prejudiced Via Arbitration Pursuant to the Clear Terms of the MOU.

Division Three also analyzed any alleged "prejudice" to Biochron associated with arbitration. *Blue Roots*, 529 P.3d at 472. "[A]n effective attempt to use arbitration to relitigate a motion that was lost on the merits can support a finding of substantive prejudice." *Blue Roots*, 529 P.3d at 474 (quoting *Lee*, 195 Wn.2d at 708). However, "[i]ncurring legal expenses inherent in litigation, without more, is insufficient evidence of prejudice to justify a finding of waiver." *Blue Roots*, 529 P.3d at 474 (quoting *Wiese*, 189 Wn. App. at 481).

Here, Division Three held that "Biochron is not prejudiced by Blue Roots's delay in renewing its motion to compel arbitration." Blue Roots, 529 P.3d at 468. In this vein, Division Three reasoned that it "would have reversed the trial court's ruling" granting summary judgment dismissal of Blue Roots' misappropriation of trade secrets claims, and therefore, Biochron "would have had to litigate the trade secrets claim in one forum or the other." *Id.* Division Three further noted that "Biochron was on notice that Blue Roots sought to arbitrate their dispute before Biochron incurred [legal] expenses." Id. at 474. As such, "[t]o the extent Biochron incurred additional expenses due to Blue Roots's delay in reasserting its right to arbitration, Biochron fails to show that expense was due to Blue Roots's conduct instead of its own offensive litigation, including two motions for partial summary judgment." Id.

As recognized by Division Three, at the time Blue Roots submitted its Renewed Motion to Compel Arbitration, Blue Roots was not attempting to relitigate a motion in arbitration

that it lost in front of the trial court. See Blue Roots, 529 P.3d at 472-74. As indicated above, a request for a preliminary injunction is a provisional remedy that only seeks to maintain the status quo, while the trial court is expressly precluded from reaching the merits of the dispute. See Nw. Gas Ass'n, 141 Wn. App. at 115-16; accord RCW 7.04A.080(1). Division Three did not err and Biochron failed to meet its heavy burden to establish waiver. See Blue Roots, 529 P.3d at 472-74.

Nor does Judge Fearing's concurrence assist in Biochron's Petition. In the concurrence, Judge Fearing wished to identify the difference between waiver and estoppel:

Strictly defined, waiver describes the act, or the consequences of the act, of one party only, while estoppel exists when the conduct of one party has induced the other party to take a position that would result in harm if the first party's act were repudiated. . . . Estoppel involves some element of reliance or prejudice on the part of the party asserting estoppel. . . . Waiver requires no reliance.

Blue Roots, 529 P.3d at 481 (Fearing, J. concurring) (citations omitted). However, even under this standard Judge Fearing

"agree[d] with the majority's <u>astute analysis</u> and implied ruling that Blue Roots never intentionally relinquished the right to arbitration." *Id.* Judge Fearing further noted "all Washington decisions, if not also all foreign decisions, meld the two concepts in the context of arbitration." *Id.*

In the Petition, Biochron further argues that it engaged in "exhaustive preparation" for trial and Blue Roots' renewed request was in essence made on the eve of trial. (Am. Pet. at p. 23.) However, Biochron fails to note that it only opposed Blue Roots' continuance request to the extent it sought to continue the discovery cutoff, while Biochron agreed to continue the trial date. (*See* CP 1303-1312.) Biochron's feigned prejudice is insufficient to establish waiver.

B. The Court of Appeals Did Not Misapply Otis Hous. Ass'n, Inc. v. Ha, 165 Wn.2d 582, 201 P.3d 309 (2009); Townsend v. Quadrant Corp., 173 Wn.2d 451, 268 P.3d 917 (2012); and/or Jeoung Lee v. Evergreen Hosp. Med. Ctr., 195 Wn.2d 699, 464 P.3d 209 (2020).

Biochron disingenuously asserts that "[t]his Court's decisions in *Ha*, *Townsend*, and *Lee* all evidence that Blue

Roots actions reached the point where they were inconsistent with any other intention than to forego the right to arbitration."

(Am. Pet. at p. 14.) This is not the case.

1. Biochron Cites *Ha* for the First Time in its Petition, Nevertheless Division Three's Opinion is Not Inconsistent Therewith.

For the first time in its Petition for Review, Biochron cites to Otis Hous. Ass'n, Inc. v. Ha, 165 Wn.2d 582, 201 P.3d 309 (2009). In general, a litigant may not raise an issue to the Supreme Court of Washington that was not presented to the Court of Appeals. See State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993) ("An issue not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals will not be considered by this court."); accord In re Ruiz-Sanabria, 184 Wn.2d 632, 642 n. 9, 362 P.3d 758 (2015). The purpose for this rule is to allow the lower court to address the applicable issue and correct any alleged error before it occurs. See id. As such, Biochron should be precluded from relying upon Ha as a basis for discretionary review as it did not argue the case below.

Nevertheless, Division Three's Opinion is in no way inconsistent with *Ha*. In *Ha*, this Court held that a litigant waived the right to compel arbitration pursuant to an option agreement by not raising the right during a show cause hearing in an unlawful detainer action related to the option agreement. 165 Wn.2d at 584-85. As indicated by the *Ha* Court, "a party to a lawsuit who claims the right to arbitration must take some action to enforce that right within a reasonable time." *Id.* at 588 (quoting *Lake Washington Sch. Dist. No. 414 v. Mobile Modules Nw., Inc.*, 28 Wn. App. 59, 64, 621 P.2d 791 (1980)). As such, the *Ha* Court reasoned:

OHA's conduct of submitting its claim that it exercised its option as a defense to the unlawful detainer action was completely inconsistent with an intent to arbitrate. We hold that OHA did waive any claim it may have had to arbitrate by presenting the same issue—whether it had successfully exercised the option to purchase—before the unlawful detainer court.

Ha, 165 Wn.2d at 588. As such, the Ha Court held "[h]aving lost that issue, it may not later seek to relitigate the same issue in a different forum." Id.

Despite no citation to Ha, Division Three noted that "'[a]n effective attempt to use arbitration to relitigate a motion that was lost on the merits can support a finding of substantial prejudice." Blue Roots, 529 P.3d at 474 (quoting Lee, 195 Division Three reasoned that "ordering Wn.2d at 708). arbitration will not prejudice Biochron" as "the grant of partial summary judgment dismissing Blue Roots's misappropriation of trade secrets claims" was erroneous and would be reversed. Id. at 468. Further, Division Three noted that "Biochron filed this suit to enjoin Blue Roots from proceeding with its arbitration demand" in the first place and Blue Roots' request for a preliminary injunction was merely "an unsuccessful motion to return its property and purported trade secrets." Id. at 473-74. This reasoning is entirely consistent with *Ha*.

2. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied Townsend.

Next, Biochron argues that Division Three's Opinion was inconsistent with and misapplied *Townsend v. Quadrant Corp.*, 173 Wn.2d 451, 268 P.3d 917 (2012). In *Townsend*,

this Court held that no waiver occurred when litigants "moved to compel arbitration after the trial court denied their motion for summary judgment." 173 Wn.2d at 463. The *Townsend* Court noted "a party to a lawsuit who claims the right to arbitration must take some action to enforce that right within a reasonable time." *Id.* (quoting *Ha*, 165 Wn.2d at 588). As such, no waiver occurred when the litigants "moved to compel arbitration promptly after the superior court denied their motion for summary judgment based on their assertion that they had no connection to the lawsuit." *Townsend*, 173 Wn.2d at 463.

In addition to citing *Townsend* multiple times, Division

Three also conducted the following in-depth analysis:

[I]n *Townsend*, two families sued their home builder and its parent companies. . . . The builder moved to stay the proceedings and compel arbitration per its contracts with the families, while the parent companies moved for summary judgment on the basis they had no connection to the plaintiffs or their houses. . . . After the superior court denied the motions and consolidated the suit with those of two more families, the builder and its parent companies

again moved to compel arbitration. . . . The superior court again denied the motion, concluding there were issues of fact as to whether the families' contracts with the builder were enforceable.

After concluding that the enforceability of the contract was an issue for the arbitrator because the families challenged the contracts as a whole rather than the arbitration clause, . . . our Supreme Court found that the parent companies had not waived their right to arbitrate by first moving for summary judgment. . . . <u>They had promptly moved to compel arbitration after their motion for summary judgment, which did not evince an intent to waive arbitration.</u>

Blue Roots, 529 P.3d at 473 (citations omitted).

In applying *Townsend* to the dispute at issue, Division Three noted that: "As in *Townsend*, [Blue Roots'] mostly defensive posture is not inconsistent with an intent to arbitrate the dispute." *Blue Roots*, 529 P.3d at 473. Division Three further noted:

When Biochron filed this suit to enjoin arbitration, Blue Roots promptly asserted its right to arbitrate. When that was unsuccessful, Blue Roots mostly played defense to Biochron's two partial summary judgment motions and its motion to compel discovery. The only affirmative motions Blue Roots filed were an unsuccessful motion to return its property and

purported trade secrets, and a later motion to continue the trial date and associated deadlines.

Id. The Opinion is not inconsistent with *Townsend*.

3. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied Lee.

Biochron further argues that Division Three misapplied Jeoung Lee v. Evergreen Hosp. Med. Ctr., 195 Wn.2d 699, 464 P.3d 209 (2020). In Lee, the Court held that the litigant (employer) waived the right to compel arbitration as "it did not move to compel [arbitration] until the third iteration of the complaint even though the complaint had almost identical claims throughout" and the litigant "opposed [the other party's] motion to continue the trial because it was ready to go to trial." 195 Wn.2d at 708. In addition, the Lee Court noted prejudice was present as "to compel arbitration would give [the litigant] the opportunity to relitigate class certification on which it lost." Id.

In addition to citing to *Lee* for rule statements, Division
Three also provided the following analysis:

In Lee, an employee filed a putative class action lawsuit against her former employer. . . . As an affirmative defense, the employer asserted that the employee had failed to exhaust the grievance and arbitration process under her collective bargaining agreement, but it did not move to compel arbitration until the employee filed her second amended complaint, nearly one year after she filed her initial complaint. . . . In the meantime, the employer had unsuccessfully opposed class certification, sought dismissal of the case, engaged in discovery, and opposed the employee's motion to continue trial on the basis it was prepared for trial, all without moving to compel arbitration. . . . The trial court denied the motion to compel arbitration in part because the parties had been litigating the same issues for months, and the employer had not previously sought to enforce its right to arbitration.

Our Supreme Court affirmed, noting that while the employer listed arbitration in its answer, it participated in discovery and litigation and did not move to compel arbitration "until the third iteration of the complaint." . . . The court also pointed to the fact that when the employee moved to continue trial, the employer opposed the continuance because it was ready to go to trial. . . . In addition to the employer acting inconsistently with its right to arbitrate, would severely prejudice arbitration employee because she had spent a large amount of money on the litigation and it would give the employer the opportunity to relitigate class certification, an issue on which it had lost.

Blue Roots, 529 P.3d at 472-73 (internal citations omitted).

Following the analysis of *Lee*, Division Three reasoned that "unlike in *Lee*..., Blue Roots did not equivocate or delay in asserting its right to arbitrate." *Blue Roots*, 529 P.3d at 473. That is, Blue Roots "filed a demand for arbitration before any litigation commenced" and "promptly asserted its right to arbitrate." *Id*. Additionally, Division Three noted "unlike the plaintiff in *Lee*, Biochron was on notice that Blue Roots sought to arbitrate their dispute before Biochron incurred [legal] expenses." *Id*. at 474. Further unlike in *Lee*, Blue Roots was not attempting to seek arbitration of an issue that it previously lost in front of the trial court. *See id*. at 471-74.

Division Three's Opinion correctly applied Lee.

C. The Court of Appeals Opinion is Not Inconsistent with the Right to Seek Interlocutory Review of the Denial of Arbitration.

Finally, Biochron argues that Division Three's Opinion "is not an efficient or effective use of the judicial process or judicial resources, and directly conflicts with this Court's directive in [Hill v. Garda CL Nw., Inc., 179 Wn.2d 47, 54,

308 P.3d 635 (2013)] to avoid 'costly and lengthy litigation' by immediately appealing an order denying arbitration as a matter of right." (Am. Pet. at p. 32.) Nevertheless, Division Three correctly reasoned that the analysis is one of waiver, as opposed to exhaustion of a potential remedy. *See Blue Roots*, 529 P.3d at 473-74.

In this vein, Division Three noted that denial of the first motion to compel arbitration "was immediately appealable under RAP 2.2(a)(3)." *Blue Roots*, 529 P.3d at 473. However, Division Three further reasoned that "it is not enough that Blue Roots failed to exhaust a potential remedy, Biochron must show that Blue Roots's actions were inconsistent with any other intention but to forego the right to arbitrate." *Id.* In other words, Division Three held that the analysis was still one of waiver. *See id.*

In addition to the overall context of the litigation (i.e., that it was initiated by Biochron to stop arbitration), the record had substantially evolved since Blue Roots' first motion to

compel arbitration in the form of various evidence regarding the parties' relationship and ratification of the MOU containing the arbitration clause. (CP 608-609; CP 621-623; CP 640-642; CP 678-679; CP 748; CP 996-1000; CP 1008-1010; CP 1022-1025.) Biochron's argument further does not take into account the interlocutory procedural nature of a motion to compel arbitration. See Marcus & Millichap, 192 Wn. App. at 473 ("both trial and appellate courts act properly by applying familiar summary judgment principles when the validity of an agreement to arbitrate is challenged under RCW 7.04A.070"); accord In re Estate of Jones, 170 Wn. App. 594, 604–05, 287 P.3d 610 (2012) (denial of a motion for summary judgment does not implicate the doctrines of stare decisis, law of the case, and/or res judicata).

Additionally, the *Townsend* Court implicitly addressed a renewed motion to compel arbitration without concerning itself with the lack of an appeal of the first denial under RAP 2.2(a)(3). *See Townsend*, 173 Wn.2d at 454-55 ("Shortly after

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